IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 25 2024

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case: 2024-001082
Common Pleas Case No. 2020-CP-03-257

LaParis Flowers,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Elizabeth A. Franklin-Best
Bar No. 72555
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 445-1333

Counsel for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. **Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing object to improper closing arguments by the State?**
- II. **Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing object to improper “truth seeking” language used by the Court and State at trial?**
- III. **Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate and present an alibi defense at trial?**
- IV. **Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to introduce the audio and video recorded statements of the complaining witnesses identifying Petitioner in order to provide context and clarity regarding the improper and highly suggestive tactics used in obtaining the statements?**
- V. **Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to sufficiently object, on the record, to the use of the jury instruction containing language that permitted malice to be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, LaParis Flowers (SCDC ID No. 375098), is currently being held in the custody of the State of South Carolina Department of Corrections and housed at Kershaw Correctional Institution and Reentry Center located at 4848 Gold Mine Highway, Kershaw, South Carolina 29067, serving a 50-year term of incarceration.

In July 2015, Petitioner was indicted by an Allendale County Grand Jury for the murder of Russell Smart – S.C. Code § 16-3-10 (Indictment No. 2014-GS-03-229, the attempted murders of Tyquan Charlton, Jarrell Murray, and Brandon Lewis – S.C. Code § 16-3-29 (Indictment Nos. 2014-GS-03-231 through 2014-GS-03-233, respectively), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime – S.C. Code § 16-23-490 (Indictment No. 2014-GS-03-234). App. 650-659. On January 8, 2018, the matter proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner. Petitioner was represented by Joshua Kroger, Jr. Esq. at trial and prosecuted by Tameaka Legette and Brian Hollen of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor’s Office. On January 11, 2018, the jury returned guilty verdicts as to all counts. App. 630-631. Judge Buckner sentenced Petitioner to a term of 45 years in state prison for the murder charge plus a consecutive term of 5 years for the possession of a firearm charge, in addition to concurrent terms of 30 years on each of the attempted murder charges, for an aggregate term of 50 years imprisonment. App. 647.

Petitioner timely directly appealed the judgment imposed upon him. The appeal was perfected by his appointed counsel, Appellate Defender Taylor D. Gilliam, Esq., who filed a brief pursuant to *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), raising one legal issue – that the court erred in its admission of three out-of-court identifications – but stated the appeal was without legal merit sufficient to warrant a new trial. Petitioner supplemented the argument raised on appeal in his March 18, 2019 *pro se* brief, arguing instructional errors pertaining to the out-of-court

identifications used by the prosecution in Petitioner's case. He additionally supplemented his *pro se* brief on November 12, 2019, arguing that this Supreme Court's then-recent ruling in *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490 (2019) rendered the inferred malice instruction given in his case erroneous. On July 1, 2020, his appeal was dismissed, and remittitur was issued on September 25, 2020. *State v. Flowers*, Unpublished Opinion No. 2020-UP-207 (S.C. Ct. App., filed Jul. 1, 2020), cert. denied (S.C. Supreme Ct. Sept. 24, 2020).¹

Thereafter, on October 19, 2020, Petitioner filed a *pro se* application for post-conviction relief (PCR) in the Court of Common Pleas for the County of Allendale, assigned Case No. 2020-CP-03-257, alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel, Joshua Kroger, Jr., Esq., and appellate counsel, Taylor D. Gilliam, Esq. On February 5, 2021, the State filed a return to Petitioner's PCR application, arguing Petitioner's PCR application failed to present a prima facie case for relief and requesting an evidentiary hearing on the matter. On November 10, 2022, Petitioner filed an amended application, further outlining his arguments. This amendment alleged trial counsel was ineffective based on his failure to: (1) obtain and introduce at trial evidence revealing the improper and highly suggestive identification procedures used in his case; (2) investigate and present an alibi defense; (3) request additional jury instructions on the limitations and inadequacy of the identification testimony presented at trial; (4) object to the charge that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon; (5) introduce into evidence audio and video recordings of the complaining witnesses' interviews; (6) object to improper arguments during the prosecution's closing; and (7) object to the unsealing of Petitioner's juvenile records without an order of a Family Court Judge. He relatedly averred that appellate counsel, who filed a brief pursuant to *Anders*

¹ Certiorari was denied pursuant to *State v. Lyles*, 381 S.C. 422 (2009), holding the Court will not entertain petitions for writs of certiorari where the appeal has been dismissed following an *Anders* review.

arguing only that the court erred in its admission of three out-of-court identifications, was ineffective for failing to make an argument regarding the applicability of a Supreme Court ruling regarding the use of the inferred malice charge applied in his case, *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490 (2019).

Thereafter, a March 14, 2023 evidentiary hearing was convened before the Honorable Robert J. Bonds. Petitioner was represented by retained counsel, Tommy A. Thomas, Esq., and the State's interests were represented by Assistant Attorney General Danielle Dixon, Esq. On September 29, 2023, the PCR Court issued an Order dismissing Petitioner's application for relief, and on December 3, 2023, Petitioner, by and through Attorney E. Charles Grose, Jr., filed a Rule 59(e) motion requesting reconsideration of the Court's Order of Dismissal. The State filed a return on December 14, 2023, and on June 25, 2024, the Judge Bonds issued an order summarily denying the motion.

On June 27, 2024, by and through undersigned counsel, Petitioner timely filed a Notice of Appeal from the PCR Court's denial of his application for post-conviction relief and his Rule 59(e) motion. The instant petition for writ of certiorari now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early morning hours of December 6, 2014, at approximately 3:00 am, a shooting occurred at the Pinewood Apartments on Barton Road in Allendale, South Carolina. App. 184-185, 199. After leaving the Lobster House, a nearby local bar, Russell Smart, Tyquan Charlton, Brandon Lewis, and Jarrell Murray were at the apartment complex in a green Ford Crown Victoria when they were approached by a white sedan alleged at trial to have been an Oldsmobile Alero. App. 185, 201, 204, 217, 250-251, 257, 286-289, 304-306. After a brief exchange, the driver of the white sedan reportedly drew a gun and began firing into the Crown Victoria. App. 258-259, 288, 306-307. The driver of the Crown Victoria, Russell Smart, was shot in the left arm and the bullet continued, passing into his chest. App. 201-202, 336, 340. Two of Smart's passengers, Tyquan Charlton and Brandon Lewis, were also injured, with Charlton being struck in the left side of his jaw and Lewis being shot in the left arm, while the third, Jarrell Murray, fled and was unharmed. App. 204-205, 208, 215-217, 260, 307. Smart died as a result of the shooting; the injuries sustained by the vehicle's other occupants were nonfatal. App. 214. A verbal altercation reportedly occurred at the Lobster House shortly preceding the shooting, but it was not alleged to have directly involved either Petitioner or the occupants of the Crown Victoria, and those persons who were directly involved in the disagreement did not recall Petitioner even being present when the altercation occurred. App. 221-225, 240, 246.

Based on out-of-court identifications made by Lewis, Charlton, and Murray, the State proceeded under a theory that Petitioner was the driver of the white sedan, as well as the shooter. App. 258, 268, 289, 293. Petitioner denied any and all involvement with the shooting, providing a December 7, 2014 voluntary statement to law enforcement that he had been at the Lobster House earlier in the evening, but left in advance of the verbal disagreement and, by the time of the

shooting, he and his then-girlfriend, Kendall Nix, were on his way to North Augusta, South Carolina in her vehicle to tend to their child. App. 9, 75-77, 590, 646, 664-666. After he gave his statement, Petitioner was arrested in connection with the shooting. App. 9.

ARGUMENT

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “The Sixth Amendment right to counsel attaches upon initiation of adversarial judicial proceedings and at all critical stages of a criminal trial.” *State v. Sterling*, 377 S.C. 475, 479 (2008). In a PCR proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of establishing that he or she is entitled to relief. *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109 (2000). “In order to prove counsel was ineffective, the [Petitioner] must show: (1) counsel’s performance was deficient; and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the result of the trial would have been different.” *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 459 (2008), citing *Strickland*, 566 U.S. 668. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” *Id.* “Moreover, ‘when a defendant’s conviction is challenged, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.’” *Id.*, quoting *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331 (2007) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181 (2018) (citations omitted). “The Court will reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 145 (2000).

I. Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing object to improper closing arguments by the State.

At the start of the State’s closing argument, the Solicitor proclaimed before the jury, “It is not my intent to prosecute an innocent man. Not so. We do not prosecute the innocent, only the guilty.” App. 556. The State continued, later in its argument also arguing that State’s witness Brandon Lewis, who had made an on-the-record recantation his earlier purported identification of Petitioner, was doing so to avoid being labeled a “snitch” now that he was incarcerated himself. App. 561-563. It is well settled that trial counsel has an obligation to object to improper closing arguments. *See, e.g., Vasquez v. State*, 388 S.C. 447, 458 (2010); *State v. Northcutt*, 372 S.C. 207, 222 (2007); *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 312 (1981). Counsel failed to meet his obligation as to the statements at issue in this case as, for the reasons described below, each of these statements were improper to a degree sufficient to warrant a new trial.

In *Fortune v. State*, 428 S.C. 545 (2019), this Court found PCR relief was due and a new trial was necessary as a result of the same type of improper language being used by the prosecutor in that case. *Id.* at 562. There, the Solicitor argued that, if he *believed* “somebody else did the crime,” then he must “dismiss it.” “And [if] [he] know[s] the person has done something that [he] *think[s]* the facts show they’re guilty of, then [he] can’t [dismiss] it. [He] ha[s] to go forward with it.” *Id.* at 547 (emphasis added). The language used in the instant case was even more inflammatory, as the prosecutor in Petitioner’s case expressly stated, “[w]e do not prosecute the innocent, only the guilty[,]” conveying to the jury that she somehow *knew* Petitioner to be guilty, instead of merely insinuating she *believed* Petitioner to be guilty, as was the case in *Fortune*. Therefore, as in *Fortune*, the Solicitor’s statement violated Petitioner’s right to due process and when trial counsel failed to object to the Solicitor’s comments, he provided Petitioner with deficient representation. Likewise, because this Court has concluded that this commentary as part

of the State's closing is sufficient to warrant a new trial, Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's shortcomings, as he was deprived of a fair trial when his attorney declined to raise a proper objection. *Lounds*, 380 S.C. at 459.

The State's comments regarding Brandon Lewis were equally objectionable. The government may not improperly vouch for a witness during closing arguments in an attempt to bolster the credibility of the witness. "Improper vouching occurs when the prosecution places the government's prestige behind a witness by making explicit personal assurances of a witness' veracity, or where a prosecutor implicitly vouches for a witness' veracity by indicating information not presented to the jury supports the testimony." *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 630 (2001). In the instant case, Lewis was initially unable to identify the shooter, but later purportedly identified Petitioner. App. 100-101, 105-107, 415-423. However, at trial, he denied ever making such identification and was not able to make an in-court identification. App. 308-311. However, no testimony was offered by Lewis or anyone else, and no other evidence was offered, that he was recanting his identification due to a "snitch code." Rather, Lewis testified only that he did not remember making an identification of Petitioner or anyone else at any time, and when directly asked if he knew who shot him, he unequivocally replied, "no." App. 308-311. The Solicitor never even inquired into why his statement differed from his earlier alleged identification. Yet, in closing, she presented her own supposition as to why he may have offered different testimony at trial, stating, "I couldn't hide from you that Brandon Lewis is in Federal prison. Brandon Lewis is an inmate, has been there since 2015...[,] He will be there until 2021. He is going back there to Federal prison. Yes, he is. [¶] Let's talk about the inmate, the snitching, the code. It's a code. It is a code, he is sitting in prison. He has to go back. [...] And because he has to go back there, he can't sit here and identify a man and then he would have to go back and tell the boys. He has to go

back to prison. Surely they are going to ask him what he did. He had to know that. ‘Man, I didn’t do anything, man, I didn’t, man, I –’ that is what the inmate Brandon Lewis came in here and did. That is what he did.” App. 561-562. Yet again, the Solicitor presented this argument as if it were fact-based, implicitly vouching for Lewis’ veracity by “indicating information not presented to the jury” – i.e., his alleged operation under the “snitch code” – “support[ed] [his] testimony[,]” arguing it provided a reason for his recantation, when no such rationale had been entered into the evidence before the jury. *Shuler*, 344 S.C. at 630. This, too, violated Petitioner’s right to a fair trial and it was both erroneous and prejudicial for counsel to fail to object to such comments.

Finally, Petitioner recognizes that, “[w]here counsel articulates a *valid* reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546 (1992) (emphasis added). Although counsel in the instant case claimed his failure to object to the above statements was based in strategy, arguing that, although he had no specific memory of doing so, he was “sure that [he] clean[ed] [the issues with the State’s closing] up on [his own] closing,” App. 810-814, because such “error[s] go[] to the fundamental fairness of a criminal trial, guaranteed by the constitution, counsel can never have a valid trial strategy for failing to object to such ... error[s][.]” *Solomon v. State*, 347 S.C. 635, 642 (2001) (Toal, J., dissenting). Therefore, counsel’s shortcomings with regard to the State’s closing argument were erroneous, cannot be supported by strategy, and were prejudicial, meaning Petitioner’s attorney was ineffective in failing to object to the State’s improper closing arguments. The PCR Court erred in holding otherwise.

II. Whether the PCR Court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing object to improper “truth seeking” language used by the Court and State at trial.

The Court and State also utilized erroneous “truth-seeking” language at Petitioner’s trial. Specifically, the trial court admonished the jury before the trial that, “An actual trial is a fundamental part of our democracy. It is a *search for the truth* in an effort to make sure that *justice is done* between parties before the court. *Searching for the truth* and trying to make sure that *justice is done* is often slow. It is often very deliberate. It is often repetitive. It is the exact opposite of what you may have seen on television or seen in a movie or read a book.” App. 144. In the State’s opening, the Solicitor then similarly argued, “Our job is to *find the truth* in this case. That is what we are going to give you. We are not hiding anything. We are going to tell you what happened, and you are going to know what happened. At the end of this case, *the truth will come out*. The *truth* is that on the morning of December 6th, LaParis Flowers killed Russell Smart. He shot Tyquan Charlton, he shot Brandon Lewis, and he almost shot Jarrell Murray.” App. 172. The prosecution’s closing mirrored this language, stating, that deliberation day was the “day when you get the *truth*.” App. 557. The Solicitor continued, “LaParis Flowers, ladies and gentlemen, is a wicked and evil man. He is a killer. It’s time to *speak the truth*. December 6th, 2014 was a time to kill for LaParis Flowers. He went to Pinewood Apartments to kill, murder, and destroy. He did that. And now it’s time to *speak the truth*. *A verdict of guilty will speak the truth*. I have insulted you today, and for that I do apologize. But I want you to leave out of this courtroom without any doubt, beyond any reasonable doubt. LaParis Flowers, the robe of righteousness is in the garbage. Incinerated. On fire. It is over. *Speak the truth* this day. Find LaParis Flowers guilty of murder, of attempted murder of Tyquan Charlton, of attempted murder of Brandon Lewis, of attempted

murder of Jarrell Murray, and the weapon, because he had to use a firearm to kill. He is a killer.” App. 577.²

The State even admits that this language was improper and there existed “a directive from our courts at that time [i.e., the time of Petitioner’s trial] to stop using this truth-seeking language[.]” i.e., *State v. Beaty*, 423 S.C. 26, 34 (2018).³ (PCR Tr. at 150.) In *Beaty* this Court held, “a trial judge should refrain from informing the jury, whether through comments or through a charge on the law, that its role is to search for the truth, or to find the true facts, or to render a just verdict. These phrases could be understood to place an obligation on the jury, independent of the burden of proof, to determine the circumstances surrounding the alleged crime and from those facts alone render the verdict the jury believes best serves its perception of justice. We instruct trial judges to avoid these terms and any others that may divert the jury from its obligation in a criminal case to determine whether the State has proven the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” Despite the State’s acknowledgment and the law which unequivocally existed at the time of trial, the PCR court nonetheless found that Petitioner had “not provided any law at the time of [his] trial that prohibited attorneys from arguing truth-seeking language.” App. 896-897. This was an objectively erroneous conclusion.

Further, although trial counsel attempted to excuse his failure to object to the undoubtedly erroneous language by explaining, “I think a number of solicitors use that [language],” he also admitted he was not aware of the holding in *Beaty* rendering it improper. App. 806-808. Any posited strategic basis for his failure to object because he found the language to be commonplace

² Emphasis added throughout.

³ The original decision in *Beaty* was issued on December 29, 2016 and Petitioner’s trial was conducted in January 2018.

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