STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jan 27 2025

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari from
Allendale County
Honorable Perry M. Buckner, IV, Trial Judge
Honorable Robert J. Bonds, PCR Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2024-001082

LAPARIS FLOWERS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Nix testified she was at the Lobster House that evening, she left and went to “Ashley’s” house, and Petitioner left behind her with “Tron.” When asked what happened when she arrived at Ashley’s house, Nix testified, “Tron went inside, got my phone charger. . . . I left my clothes there, came back to the car, [Petitioner’s brother] came, asked [Petitioner] can he hold the car, can he get some money from her, and that was it.” She stated she and Petitioner then drove to North Augusta. Nix testified she did not go to Pinewood Apartments that evening. Although she initially testified she never spoke with trial counsel or interacted with him, she later acknowledged meeting him at a fast-food restaurant to provide payment. ***Nix admitted she did not tell trial counsel she could provide an alibi for Petitioner.***

Nix initially testified she left the Lobster House around 2:00 a.m. After reviewing her statement, she testified she told law enforcement she left round 2:42 a.m. She stated Petitioner left the Lobster House at the same time she did, “was right behind [her] at Ashley’s house,” and they left together to go to North Augusta.²

Jaquavian, Petitioner’s cousin, recalled seeing Petitioner and Nix at the Lobster House that night. He stated Petitioner and Nix left while Jaquavian was still at the club, and he did not see Petitioner after Petitioner left the club. Likewise, Jaquavian’s mother Kimberly recalled seeing Petitioner and Nix at the club, but she testified they left after learning their son was acting cranky. Kimberly testified she did not see them after they left the club, she did not know if they left together or separately, and she did not see Petitioner again that night.

² In her supplemental statement to police, which was signed at 7:12 pm on December 7, 2014, Nix stated,

After leaving the club around 2:42 am, I went and drop my cousin and her stepsister off. Stayed there ***and 10 mins later LaParis pull up*** and drop Tron off, he then gave Chavis the keys and we went back to North Augusta. He then said he tired of everybody lien [sic] and if something happen take care of his child. This is the correction to my first statement.

(emphasis added). This was entered into evidence at the PCR hearing as part of Exhibit 2.

a. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that counsel was not deficient for not investigating or presenting an alibi.

Although Petitioner testified he spoke with counsel about presenting an alibi, trial counsel ***did not recall Petitioner mentioning an alibi defense. Likewise, trial counsel believed he met Nix on more than one occasion and stated she never mentioned being with Petitioner that night.*** Counsel recalled seeing Jaquavian and Kimberly's statements in discovery but stated Petitioner never asked him to speak to them. He agreed he did not interview Nix, Kimberly, or Jaquavian.

Here, where the evidence is conflicting, this Court should defer to the PCR court's credibility findings. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 589, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) ("Where matters of credibility are involved, this Court gives great deference to a judge's findings, because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses."). The PCR court found credible trial counsel's testimony that Petitioner never raised an alibi defense, Petitioner never asked him to speak to the witnesses, and Nix did not mention being with Petitioner that night.³ The PCR court likewise found not credible Petitioner's testimony that he told counsel he had an alibi. Based on the foregoing testimony and credibility findings, probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that counsel was not deficient for not further investigating and presenting an alibi defense. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691 ("In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments. The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions.").

Further, the PCR court further properly found the witness statements were insufficient to put counsel on notice of a potential alibi defense. (Supp. App. 8-10). In fact, Kimberly's statement

³ In fact, Nix herself admitted she did not tell counsel she could provide an alibi for Petitioner despite meeting him to provide payment on Petitioner's behalf.

indicated two friends called her the day after the shooting and told her Petitioner “was shooting somebody in Pinewood Apartments.” (Supp. App. 8). Jaquavian and Kimberly’s PCR testimony likewise did not create an alibi; although they acknowledged seeing Petitioner at the Lobster House that night, they both stated they did not see him after he left. Here, where the shooting did not occur at the Lobster House, and Jaquavian and Kimberly’s testimony did not place Petitioner at the Lobster House at the time of the shooting, their testimony did not create an alibi. Thus, counsel was not deficient for not further investing and pursuing an alibi defense related to them.

Further, Nix’s statement to police indicated she left the club around 2:42 a.m., and Petitioner arrived at the home she went to *ten minutes later*. (Supp. App. 5, 7). Based on counsel’s testimony (which the PCR court found credible) that Allendale is not a big city, “so you could probably get to any point of Allendale within five to ten minutes”; the ten-minute gap of time in Nix’s statement where she was not with Petitioner; and the fact Nix never told counsel she could provide an alibi for Petitioner, counsel’s failure to further investigate her as an alibi witness was reasonable under prevailing professional norms and not deficient. Thus, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not prove deficiency.

b. Based on the testimony presented and the PCR court’s credibility findings, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not prove prejudice.

The PCR court properly found the testimony of Kimberly and Jaquavian did not create an alibi defense. Kimberly and Jaquavian both testified they did not see Petitioner after he left the Lobster House that morning—making their testimony insufficient to establish an alibi. Thus, Petitioner did not prove prejudice from counsel’s failure to call them as alibi witnesses at trial

Further, the PCR court, who had the opportunity to view Petitioner’s and Nix’s testimony at the PCR hearing, found their testimony concerning an alibi to be self-serving and not credible, and this Court should defer to that credibility finding. Critically, although Nix testified Petitioner

followed her when she left the club, in a supplemental statement signed the same night as her original statement, she indicated she “drop[ed her] cousin and her stepsister off, stayed there *and 10 minutes later [Petitioner] pull[ed] up* and drop[ped] Tron off.” (Supp. App. 7). This statement contradicted her PCR testimony that Petitioner was “right behind me at Ashley’s house”—lending evidentiary support (though not required for a credibility finding) to the PCR court’s finding that she was not credible. The PCR court further correctly found that based on the evidence presented at trial—including three witness identifications and evidence of gunshot residue in the car Petitioner admitted he was driving—it was not reasonably likely the outcome would have been different had Petitioner presented the alibi defense he presented at the PCR hearing. Thus, Petitioner did not prove prejudice.

IV. The PCR court properly found counsel was not ineffective for not introducing video recordings of witness statements when (a) counsel articulated a valid strategy for not introducing the videos and thus was not deficient and (b) Petitioner failed to establish a legal basis for admitting the videos and thus did not prove prejudice.

Petitioner contends counsel was ineffective for not introducing into evidence video recordings of Lewis, Murray, and Charleton to show “improper and highly suggestive tactics used in obtaining the statements.”⁴ However, the PCR court properly found counsel articulated a valid strategy in not admitting the videos in that he impeached the witnesses through cross-examination and wanted to preserve the right to last-closing argument. Further, Petitioner did not set forth a legal basis under which the videos would have been admitted at trial. Thus, Petitioner did not prove

⁴ The PCR court did not consider whether counsel was ineffective for not attempting to enter Lewis’s recorded interview, and although Petitioner filed a Motion to Reconsider, he did not raise the Court’s failure to address this issue in his Motion—leaving it unreserved. Further, it strains credibility to suggest counsel was ineffective for not attempting to enter Lewis’s recorded statement wherein he implicated Petitioner as the shooter when Lewis himself did not identify Petitioner as the shooter at trial.

deficiency or prejudice.

Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. However, ***if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible.***

Rule 613(b), SCRE (emphasis added).

a. Counsel articulated a valid strategy for not introducing the videos and thus was not deficient.

At the PCR hearing, counsel testified extensively about his cross-examination of the witnesses and his attempt to impeach them. He further testified that had he introduced the videos, he would have lost the last-closing argument—which he discussed with Petitioner. Based on the forgoing testimony—which the PCR court found credible—the PCR court properly found counsel articulated a valid strategy of impeaching the witnesses through cross-examination. Further, based on the transcript, the PCR court properly found counsel effectively cross-examined Lewis, Carleton and Murray, and his performance in this regard was reasonable under prevailing professional norms. (Tr. 266-73, 276, 291-97). Thus, probative evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that Petitioner did not prove deficiency.

b. Petitioner failed to establish a legal basis for admitting the videos and thus did not prove prejudice.

It is Petitioner’s burden to prove his claims, and part of that burden includes establishing that evidence he believes should have been admitted was in fact admissible. However, Petitioner did not set forth a legal basis for the admissibility of these videos. Specifically, Petitioner did not point to what portion of the recordings could have been used to impeach Carleton or Murray or

what statements Carleton and Murry denied making—which would have led to the admissibility of the recordings under the Rules of Evidence.⁵ See Rule 613(b), SCRE (“[I]f a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidenced that the prior statement was made is inadmissible.”). Petitioner thus did not meet his burden of showing the videos would have been admitted, and the PCR court properly found he did not prove prejudice.

V. The PCR court properly found counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the inferred malice charge because at the time of Petitioner’s trial and under the facts of this case, the charge was proper. Further, although Petitioner’s argument that the PCR court should have applied Belcher is unpreserved, the PCR court properly applied the law that existed at trial because Strickland and its progeny require courts to analyze counsel’s conduct under the law that existed at the time of trial, and Burdette itself states it does not apply to PCR.

Although an instruction that malice can be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon is no longer good law in South Carolina, the case prohibiting this charge came out *after* Petitioner’s trial. See State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 503, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019) (“A jury instruction that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon is an improper court-sponsored emphasis of a fact in evidence—that the deed was done with a deadly weapon—and it should no longer be permitted.”).⁶ At the time of Petitioner’s trial, courts could give this charge as long as no evidence existed that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the homicide. See State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009) (“[W]here evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify a homicide (or assault and battery with intent to kill)

⁵ Admittedly, Lewis denied at trial knowing who the shooter was, although he implicated Petitioner as the shooter to law enforcement. Respondent submits it is not reasonably likely having Lewis’s recorded video *wherein he implicated Petitioner as the shooter* would have led to Petitioner’s acquittal. Respondent further submits it would have been patently unreasonable for trial counsel to seek to introduce Lewis’s video at trial.

⁶ The Burdette court acknowledged it was overruling precedent and found its ruling “will not apply to convictions challenged on post-conviction relief.” 427 S.C. at 505, 832 S.E.2d at 583.

caused by the use of a deadly weapon, juries shall not be charged that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon.” overruled by Burdette, 427 S.C. at 490, 832 S.E.2d at 575)). ***Here, no evidence was presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify this homicide, making this charge proper at the time of Petitioner’s trial.*** Because this charge was proper at the time of trial and under these facts, the PCR court properly found counsel was not deficient.

In arguing that the PCR court erred, ***Petitioner asks this Court to do what is prohibited by Strickland and its progeny—find counsel ineffective for failing to anticipate changes in the law.*** However, under Strickland and its progeny, counsel’s actions must be measured under the law that existed at the time of trial. See Pantovich v. State, 427 S.C. 555, 562–63, 832 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2019) (“[W]e do not require attorneys to be clairvoyant in anticipating changes to the law . . .”); Teamer v. State, 416 S.C. 171, 183, 786 S.E.2d 109, 115 (2016) (“[R]easonable representation does not require trial counsel to foresee successful appellate challenges to novel questions of law.”). Critically, ***it would be reversible error for a PCR court to find counsel ineffective based on law that did not exist at the time of trial.*** See Teamer, 416 S.C. at 183, 786 S.E.2d at 115 (“[T]he PCR court erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction when no case law existed rendering the instruction improper per se.”). The PCR court properly applied the law that existed at the time of trial in concluding counsel was not ineffective.⁷ This is even more true because ***Burdette itself states it does not apply to PCR.*** See Burdette, 427

⁷ Petitioner’s attempt to create a new duty that would require trial lawyers to “remain aware of cases presently pending before” appellate courts was likewise not raised to the PCR court and is not preserved. Notwithstanding this, such a duty does not exist, and an appeal from the denial of PCR is not the proper venue for creating a new duty. Cf. Pantovich v. State, 427 S.C. 555, 562–63, 832 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2019) (“***Fundamentally, a collateral review proceeding is ill-suited for announcing a new rule of substantive law*** pertaining to an underlying trial; appellate courts are to do so only in the rarest of circumstances. This is especially true in a retrospective PCR analysis under Strickland, which seeks to determine whether counsel was ineffective at the time of the alleged error.”(internal footnotes omitted)).

S.C. at 505, 832 S.E.2d at 583 (2019) (“[T]oday’s ruling will not apply to convictions challenged on post-conviction relief.”). Based on the foregoing, the PCR court properly applied the law that existed at the time of trial in finding counsel was not deficient.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should deny the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari.